sid J. Whit APR 22 ł993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT. By-IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Case No. 81,230

THE FLORIDA PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION, ET AL., ETC.

JUDITH SHARON ABRAMSON

Respondents.

Petitioner,

CAROL SEIDMAN,

Petitioner,

vs.

vs.

THE FLORIDA PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION, ET AL., ETC.,

Respondents.

Case No. 81,248

BRIEF OF PETITIONER, JUDITH SHARON ABRAMSON

PERSE, P.A. & GINSBERG, P.A. and THOMAS J. MORGAN, P.A. 410 Concord Building Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-0427 Attorneys for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The petitioner, JUDITH SHARON ABRAMSON, was one of two appellants in the District Court of Appeal, First District, and was one of several defendants in the trial court.¹ The respondents, THE FLORIDA PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION and PARKE FITZHUGH, Individually, were the appellees/plaintiffs. In this brief of petitioner the parties will be referred to as they appear in this Court and, alternatively, by name. The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal. Exhibits submitted at the February 21, 1991 (final) hearing and included in the record on appeal will be referenced directly. All emphasis has been supplied by counsel unless indicated to the contrary.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The First District Court of Appeal has certified to this Court, as a question of great public importance, the issue:

WHEN IS IT LAWFUL FOR THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, AS THE LEGISLATIVELY APPOINTED COUNSEL FOR A STATE BOARD OR AGENCY, TO SETTLE A LAWSUIT BETWEEN SAID BOARD OR AGENCY AND A PRIVATE INDIVIDUAL UNDER TERMS OR CONDITIONS THAT ARE NOT EXPRESSLY AUTHORIZED BY THE BOARD'S LEGISLATIVE GRANT OF POWER?

That court received this case on appeal(s) by Abramson and Seidman from trial court final order enjoining them from holding

¹ABRAMSON's co-appellant below was/is CAROL SEIDMAN, a copetitioner in these proceedings. See: SEIDMAN v. FLORIDA PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION, et al., etc., Case No. 81,248, as consolidated by order of this Court dated March 17, 1993.

themselves out as licensed psychologists until such time as they met certain statutory requirements (R. 233-239, 240, 241).

Α.

This lawsuit was instituted by The Florida Psychological Association ("FPA") which is an incorporated association composed of licensed psychologists and which purportedly represents member psychologists in professional, governmental and legislative forums. Fitzhugh, a licensed psychologist and a member of FPA was subsequently joined as a party plaintiff [to insure the existence of a "controversy", "dispute", etc.?]

The order appealed, in essence, voided a settlement entered into between Abramson (one of the "private" defendants) and agencies of the State of Florida (the "public" defendants), which settlement ended, as between them, nine years of federal litigation over the constitutionality of Chapter 490, Florida Statutes (1981).

в.

The facts of this case being neither complex nor lengthy and for all pertinent purposes undisputed as to the salient events and/or happenings may, as to Abramson, be stated as follows:

 In <u>August of 1980</u> Judith Abramson <u>graduated</u>--with a <u>Ph.D in psychology--from Heed University in Hollywood, Florida</u> (R. 91, paragraph 20).

2. Heed was a school <u>licensed</u> by the State of Florida from November of 1973 through June of 1986 but it was never

<u>accredited</u> as recognized by the United States Department of Education (R. 91, paragraphs 24 and 25; Exhibit I to the initial complaint).

3. When Abramson graduated in 1980 the Florida Statute which regulated the practice of psychology had, the year before (in 1979) "sunset." Abramson lawfully held herself out as a psychologist and practiced her profession without interruption until 1981 (R. 234, paragraph 1).

4. The practice of psychology in the State of Florida was unregulated for some thirty (30) months from the time of "sunset" until the Legislature acted in 1981. In 1981 the Legislature enacted a new statute [See: Chapter 81-235, Laws of Florida], Chapter 490, Florida Statutes (1981). The 1981 statute again sought to regulate the industry and said statute provided certain "grandfather" clauses, conditions and benefits.

5. In 1981 Abramson (and others), concerned that the degrees earned from <u>non-accredited schools</u> would keep them from being licensed in their profession and/or from being qualified to sit for the state licensing exam (even with the inclusion of "grandfathering" provisions), filed a federal (declaratory judgment) lawsuit wherein they sought <u>alternative</u> relief. Named as defendants were the State of Florida, Department of Professional Regulation, the Board of Psychological Examiners (created pursuant to the then newly enacted legislation, Chapter 81-235, Laws of Florida) and individuals of each in various

capacities (R. 4, paragraph 11; Exhibits 10 and 11 in the record on appeal).

6. The thrust of the federal lawsuit was directed at the <u>unconstitutionality</u> of the (then) newly enacted statute and such challenge was made to the statute in both whole and in part. Specifically:

a. Chapter 490, Florida Statutes (1981), was challenged as being unconstitutional on its face;

b. Chapter 490, Florida Statutes (1981), was challenged as being unconstitutional as it was then being applied; and

c. Certain provisions of Chapter 490, Florida Statutes (1981) were being challenged for specific and particular reasons. <u>Pertinent here is the fact that</u> the grandfathering provision was under separate <u>attack</u>.

7. The lawsuit pended for some nine years through the filing of a <u>Sixth Amended Complaint</u> until, in April and May of 1990, a <u>written</u> offer (and amended offer) of settlement was made [to Abramson and <u>selected</u> others] which, in effect, offered that <u>in exchange for their removal from the lawsuit and at her option</u> (a) if Abramson could show that her qualifications were <u>equivalent to</u> those necessary for certification under set guidelines she would be licensed without examination OR (b) she <u>could sit for the examination (at most twice) and if she passed</u> <u>she would be licensed</u>. The specific offer provided (that if):

". . . any of the 22 plaintiffs (as described above) who can show that his or her qualifications were equivalent to those necessary for certification under the written standards of the FPA or FAPP in 1981 will be licensed by the Board of Psychological The Board Examiners without examination. of Psychological Examiners will review the standards necessary for certification. . . and determine if any plaintiffs. . .evidence education and of the experiential qualifications. . .which were equivalent to those required for certification by the two private associations. . . If the Board determines that any of the plaintiffs were equivalent, they would then be <u>licensed as psychologists</u>. If the Board determines that they were not equivalent, then they will be given Chapter 120.57 rights to contest such a determination offered a hearing before The Division of and Administrative Hearings to prove such a claim of equivalency as well as any and all of the appellate rights pertaining thereto. During the Board review and administrative process, the plaintiff will be permitted to practice until a final order. . . has been entered by the Board of Psychological Examiners. . .

* * *

"2. Should any of the plaintiffs determine that, in their opinion, they would not need FPA or FAPP written certification requirements, or be equivalent thereto, those who were, in fact, practicing using any of the terms regulated by Chapters 490 or 491 between July 1, 1979 and continuously up to and including January 1, 1982, will be given an opportunity to sit for the psychology or related professional examination. This opportunity will be extended to any of the plaintiffs, described above, on a one-time basis]The offer was amended to include a 'two-time basis'] and should any of the plaintiffs pass the examination, they will be licensed as either a psychologist or a related professional. If they fail the examination (which would be the present licensure examination) ANY SUCH PLAINTIFF WOULD HAVE THUS SHOWN HIS LACK OF COMPETENCE TO MEET THE STANDARDS NECESSARY FOR LICENSURE, AND THUS WOULD BE PRECLUDED FROM THE USE OF THE PROSCRIBED TERMS IN THEIR PROFESSIONAL ACTIVITIES. . . " (R. 85-146, Document F. appended to the First Amended Complaint)."

8. The settlement (as pertinent here) was offered by the Department of Professional Regulation and the Board of

* *

Psychological Examiners and came through John J. Rimes, III, an Assistant Attorney General of the State of Florida, who made the offer within the course and scope of his authority as an attorney for the Department of Legal Affairs, Office of the Attorney General, State of Florida (R. 85-146, Document F. appended to the First Amended Complaint).

<u>Abramson</u>, through counsel, <u>accepted the settlement</u> (R.
90, paragraph 6, Exhibit H. appended thereto).

10. On September 14, 1990, this lawsuit was instituted by the Florida Psychological Association (R. 1-57), which lawsuit sought:

a. To enjoin Abramson (private defendant) from holding herself out as a licensed psychologist until she met certain statutory requirements; and

b. To require the public defendants to not license Abramson (and others) until the statutory requirements were met (R. 1-57; 85-146).

11. After minor intermittent skirmishing, the lower court allowed Abramson the privilege to sit for the examination but, in an order entered February 21, 1981 (the order appealed), the trial court enjoined Abramson from holding herself out as a licensed psychologist [until she met certain statutory requirements] and compelled the public defendants to require Abramson to meet the statutory requirements before being licensed. The trial court did so upon the express belief that the public defendants did not have the "lawful authority" to

agree to the terms and conditions of the settlement (as

<u>described above</u>):

". . .A study of the basic underpinnings of administrative law leads to the conclusion that the public defendants are attempting to overstep their legal authority in this particular case. . ." R. 236).

The Court voided the settlement between Abramson, State of Florida, Department of Professional Regulation and the Board of Psychological Examiners, and in so doing reasoned:

* * *

". . .This Court is aware that important rights of an agency to settle legal disputes are pitted against its obligations to simply follow the law, whatever the law may provide. The right to settle cases saves time and money for all sides. Often settlements are in the best interests of all parties and the public; and it is not the role of this Court to review the wisdom of debatable issues. However, a study of the basic underpinnings of administrative law leads to the conclusion that the public defendants are attempting to overstep their legal authority in this particular case.

"b. Understandably, the public defendants feared the grandfather clause would be held unconstitutional and that the private defendants would be licensed without examination. As a compromise between 'no grandfathering' at all and 'grandfathering without examination', the Board offered the settlement. Existing minimal educational requirements were ignored because they were not the central issue; instead, the awaited ruling on the constitutionality of the grandfather clause was the focus. Not only did private defendants dismiss themselves from the federal lawsuit which was later decided against them, but they studied and sat for examination for licensure. The private defendants have timely met their end of the settlement agreement, all at the assistance of the public defendants. The private defendants relied on the validity of the settlement. However, these facts are <u>insufficient</u> to support enforcement of the settlement. To allow this would ignore the plain statutory requirements for licensure, including the contested grandfather clause. . . " (R. 236).



12. Abramson appealed to the District Court, See: ABRAMSON v. THE FLORIDA PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION, 610 So. 2d 447 (Fla.App.1st 1992). In its opinion that Court noted:

"The first question presented is whether the trial court properly determined that DPR and the Board did not have the authority to enter into an agreement contrary to the statutory requirements of Section 490.05, Florida Statutes (1989). Although we recognize settlement is to be generally encouraged to resolve disputes, we agree with the trial court that the settlement undertaken here exceeded the authority of the agency to settle. Appellant's primary argument is that this Court should uphold the agreement because the purpose of the settlement agreement was to end litigation which threatened the validity of the entire regulatory framework of Chapter 490 and that under the Chapter 490 enabling act, the power to make such settlement has been granted. We find such contention Agencies are generally to to be unpersuasive. construe statutes which they administer on the presumption that the statute in effect is valid (Citation omitted). Further, as appellees well note, 'An agency may not increase its own jurisdiction and, as a creature of statute, has no common law jurisdiction or inherent power. (Citations omitted). It is axiomatic, therefore, that an agency generally may not act in a manner which exceeds the authority granted to it through statutes." 610 So. 2d at p. 449.

The Court found that neither Abramson nor Seidman met the educational requirements set forth in Section 490.005(1)(b)1., 2., Florida Statutes (1989). The Court further found:

"The trial court's determination that the settlement is illegal because the Agency did not have the authority to make such settlement, <u>would not be</u> <u>erroneous</u>, absent (1) evidence that appellants met the plain statutory requirements of the above Section, or other sections as applicable and (2) any reference to portions of the enabling act of Chapter 490 (or subsequent amendment) which would clearly grant DPR and the Board the authority, in the exercise of their police power, to waive the statutorily prescribed



educational requirements applicable to prospective licensees. Since neither of those circumstances existed, the trial court did not err." 610 So. 2d at p. 449.

Rejecting alternative arguments that "equity" should apply to allow enforcement of the settlement agreement [i.e., that is, Abramson had opted out of the federal lawsuit with reliance upon the State of Florida and had <u>passed</u> the examination she was required to pass in order to effectuate the settlement--in point of fact Abramson had been practicing for some ten years at the time she accepted the settlement] the court <u>affirmed</u> the trial court.

13. Abramson's post opinion motions were filed. The court denied rehearing but granted the request to certify the matter to this Court. This proceeding followed.

Abramson reserves the right to argue the significance of the above facts and other relevant record facts in the argument portion of this brief.

III.

QUESTION PRESENTED

The District Court certified to this Court as a question of great public importance the following:

WHEN IS IT LAWFUL FOR THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, AS THE LEGISLATIVELY APPOINTED COUNSEL FOR A STATE BOARD OR AGENCY, TO SETTLE A LAWSUIT BETWEEN SAID BOARD OR AGENCY AND A PRIVATE INDIVIDUAL UNDER TERMS OR CONDITIONS THAT ARE NOT EXPRESSLY AUTHORIZED BY THE BOARD'S LEGISLATIVE GRANT OF POWER?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

TV.

Abramson suggests to this Court that the certified question should be answered favorably to Abramson (and Seidman), the opinion of the District Court of Appeal, First District, should be quashed with directions to the trial court to reverse the order appealed and to direct the trial court to enter judgment for Abramson (and Seidman) and to recognize the validity and integrity of the compromise reached.

It is well settled in Florida, as elsewhere, that as to municipal corporations, counties, states, state agencies, boards and tribunals, the authority to compromise and/or settle a claim--whether it be done before or during litigation--<u>is</u> <u>impliedly within its power</u>! The power to compromise, settle and compose litigation of any kind is incident to and implied from the power of the sovereign or agency of the sovereign <u>to sue</u> and <u>be sued</u>.

It is clear from both the enabling legislation (the authorities contained in Chapter 490, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 455, Florida Statutes) and the rules promulgated thereunder, that <u>both</u> the Department of Professional Regulation and the Board of Psychological Examiners were fully expected to be able to sue, to be sued and to litigate. As such it is clear, and it must be so concluded, that the public defendants had the power, jurisdiction and authority to compromise any and all litigation within which they were involved.

The federal lawsuit challenged the constitutionality of the statute <u>as a whole</u> as well as the constitutionality of the "grandfathering" provisions. Two agencies of the State of Florida, faced with both concern and fear that the challenged statute could, in its entirety, be declared unconstitutional--with the result that the practice of psychology <u>would again be</u> <u>without regulation</u>--offered a compromise which they were impliedly authorized to do.

Where, as here, the State Legislature enacts legislation the effect of which is to create independent and autonomous agencies each capable of suing and being sued, it cannot be concluded that either was not "sovereignly empowered" to resolve or compromise claims which arose from the very legislation which created the agency at risk.

Where, as here, the Legislature <u>specifically contemplated</u> the existence of lawsuits when it created the agencies and mandated that the State Attorney General be counsel for each, it should be decided that the lower courts were incorrect in their conclusions. If the power, authority and jurisdiction to settle or compromise litigation arises impliedly from the administrative tribunal's ability to sue and be sued, there can be no question here that the lower courts were in error.

At no time should the trial court have attempted to delve into what was (and what was not) "a concern" of the litigation in federal court. The case should never have progressed past the trial court's recognition of the existence of the agencies'

"general power" and such recognition should have caused the court to <u>deny</u> injunctive (and mandamus) relief. By limiting its analysis to a discussion of "no grandfathering at all" versus "grandfathering without examination", the lower court missed the mark regarding the basic issue: NO REGULATION AT ALL VERSUS REGULATION (in whole or in part).

Because resolving concerns about the constitutionality of the statute was certainly within the power of the agency to do, and further because the Attorney General of the State of Florida is constitutionally and legislatively charged with the obligation of representation in matters of this description, it must be concluded the lower court's orders are erroneous. No authority in the orders being reviewed holds contrary to the arguments herein advanced.

It is not (now) appropriate for anyone to suggest that the federal lawsuit should have ended in one year, three years, five years, etc., nor to speculate under what terms and conditions it should have ended. Abramson's rights were vested in 1981 with the passage of Chapter 81-235, Laws of Florida. The statute was unconstitutional or constitutional on its face on that date. The pleadings in the federal lawsuit fixed the issues. It was to those issues that one had to turn in order to determine whether or not the public defendants had the authority to settle. Assistant Attorney General John Rimes negotiated a settlement which, at all times pertinent, was lawful. It was accepted. The litigants had the right, power and authority to

compromise. The public defendants, as independent agencies of the State of Florida, with the power, authority and jurisdiction to sue and to be sued, were possessed of no less rights than Abramson.

Abramson would request this Court to hold that it is lawful for the Attorney General of the State of Florida, as the legislatively appointed counsel for a State board or agency, to settle a lawsuit between such board or agency and a private individual under terms or conditions that, while not expressly authorized by the board's legislative grant of power, (a) puts to rest a (disputed) issue that would, if the issue were decided against it, adversely affect the interests of the State of Florida; and (b) the Attorney General determines that settlement would not work any serious damage to the public interest in general. This holding would be fair to all.

Whether one analyzes the subject issue in terms of "authority to settle" or whether one analyzes this case under the theory of "estoppel", it becomes crystal clear that the trial court and the District Court erred in the results reached.

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