(P)

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
MAY 221 1993
CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

JUDITH SHARON ABRAMSON,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 81,230

THE FLORIDA PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION and PARKE FITZHUGH,

Respondents.

CAROL SEIDMAN,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 81,248 -

THE FLORIDA PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION and PARKE FITZHUGH,

Respondents.

# RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

Darren A. Schwartz
Bruce Culpepper
HABEN, CULPEPPER, DUNBAR
& FRENCH, P.A.
306 N. Monroe St.
P. O. Box 10095
Tallahassee, FL 32302

(904) 222-3533

DAS FL BAR NO. 0853747 BC FL BAR NO. 099170

Attorneys for Respondents

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

By allowing Petitioners to be licensed as psychologists without regard to their educational qualifications, the Board abused its power, and disregarded its legal responsibility to enforce the law, to protect the public health, safety and welfare, and to ensure that only qualified persons hold themselves out as licensed psychologists. The trial court and district court properly recognized and ordered that the Board does not have the legal authority to ignore minimum educational requirements established by the legislature. No evidence was presented to the trial court that the Board offered the settlement because of a concern that the practice of psychology would be without regulation. Any concern that D.P.R. and the Board may have had over the continued validity of the grandfather provision, or of no regulation at all, is an insufficient basis and grants no authority for administratively waiving minimum educational requirements established by the legislature. By failing to consider educational qualifications set by the legislature, the Board breached its duty and rendered Section 490.005(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1989) unenforceable by administrative fiat.

Estoppel applies against the State only in rare and exceptional circumstances, and then, only if the agency's action is legal. The doctrine of equitable estoppel does not apply in this case because the settlement agreement is illegal and void as against public policy. Since the Board and Petitioners entered

into the illegal settlement agreement at arm's length, this Court should leave them as it finds them, and that is, without an agreement.

The Attorney General of the State of Florida has no legal authority to settle a lawsuit between a state board or agency and a private individual under terms of conditions that are either: a) not expressly authorized by the Board's legislative grant of power; or b) that are expressly prohibited by the Board's legislative grant of power or in violation of statute. The Attorney General lacks authority to settle on behalf of a Board or state agency under terms or conditions that are beyond the authority of the Board or agency. To empower the Attorney General with such authority to settle under such terms or conditions would violate the separation of powers doctrine.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE BOARD HAS NO LEGAL AUTHORITY TO IGNORE THE MINIMUM EDUCATIONAL REQUIREMENTS IN SECTION 490.005, FLORIDA STATUTES AND TO ALLOW PETITIONERS TO BE LICENSED WITHOUT REGARD TO THEIR EDUCATIONAL QUALIFICATIONS.

As the trial court correctly found, this case is about an agency following clear legislative mandates. (R. 237) The legislative mandate at issue here is Section 490.005(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1989). Section 490.005(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1989) requires that persons desiring to be licensed as psychologists submit proof satisfactory to the Board that they have satisfied the following minimum educational requirements:

- 1. Received a doctoral degree with a major in psychology from a program which at the time the applicant was enrolled and graduated was accredited by the American Psychological Association;
- 2. Received a doctoral degree with a major in psychology from a program which at the time the applicant was enrolled and graduated maintained a standard of training comparable to the standards of training of those programs accredited by the American Psychological Association. Education and training in psychology must have been received in an institution of higher education fully accredited by a regional accrediting body recognized by the Council on Postsecondary Accreditation or an institution which is publicly recognized as a member in good standing with the Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada.

With the exception of Petitioners, and the other private Defendants below, every person who sat for the psychology licensure examination from 1983 until May of 1990 presented educational qualifications for the Board and its executive director to review (R. 264), and every applicant, to be licensed in the State of Florida, has been required to meet the minimum educational

requirements established by the legislature. (R. 286-289) With the exception of Petitioners, and the other private Defendants below, no graduate of Heed University has been allowed to sit for the psychology examination. (R. 262) Here, Petitioners were allowed to apply for licensure without any review of minimum educational requirements (R. 239) even though D.P.R. and the Board agreed that they do not meet the minimum educational requirements set forth above. (R. 80-81)

By allowing Petitioners to be licensed as psychologists without regard to their educational qualifications, the Board abused its power, and disregarded its legal responsibility to enforce the law as clearly delineated by the legislature, to protect the public health, safety and welfare, and to ensure that only qualified persons hold themselves out as licensed psychologists. The lower court and district court properly recognized that the Board does not have the legal authority to ignore minimum educational requirements established by the legislature and to allow Petitioners to hold themselves out as licensed psychologists without regard to their educational qualifications.

Petitioners concede that an agency has only such power as expressly or by necessary implication is granted by enactment, and that an agency may not increase its own jurisdiction and, as a creature of statute, has no common law jurisdiction or inherent power. Petitioners contend, however, that the above language gave the Board implied authority to waive minimum educational

requirements. None of the cases relied on by Petitioners involve a fact situation where an administrative agency waived statutory criteria. Numerous decisions have declared agency decisions illegal because they were contrary to statute.

In Lee v. Division of Florida Land Sales and Condominiums, 474 So.2d 282 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985) the Division attempted to impose a \$10,000.00 penalty on a land/vendor based on sales of subdivided lands even though it was clear under the statute that the sales were exempt from the Uniform Land Sales Practices Law. The fifth district set aside the Division's action, holding that the Division could not contract away the exemption. 474 So.2d at 284. In another case, Context Development Co. v. Dade County, 374 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977), a county official attempted to require a landowner to submit an environmental impact statement even though the county code did not require any type of environmental impact statement. In declaring the official's act invalid, the third district stated:

. . . However laudable or commendable the actions of the [County], it is well settled that a statutory agency does not possess any inherent powers; such agency is limited to the powers granted, either expressly or by necessary implication, by the statutes [here the Dade Code] creating them.

#### 374 So.2d 1149-1150.

Two cases even more analogous to the present care are Palm Harbor SP. Fire Control District v. Kelly, 516 So.2d 249 (Fla. 1987) and Florida Dairy Farmers Federation v. Borden Company, 155 So.2d 699 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963).

In Palm Harbor, Kelly, a non-citizen, applied for a license to act as a business agent for the Palm Harbor Fire Fighters Union. The Palm Harbor special Fire District and others opposed the application on the grounds of Kelly's lack of citizenship. 516 So.2d at 250. The Florida Department of Labor and Employment Security granted Kelly a license, citing Section 455.10, Florida Statutes<sup>2</sup> as grounds for this action. In effect, the Department's final order held that Section 455.10 implicitly had repealed the alienage restriction contained in Section 447.04 (1)(a) which provided:

- (1) No person shall be granted a license or a permit to act as a business agent in this state:
- (a) Who is not a citizen of the United States.

This Court held that the Department had no power to declare Section 447.04(1)(a) void or otherwise unenforceable by Here, by failing to administrative fiat. 516 So.2d at 250. consider educational qualifications, the Board rendered Section 490.005(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1989) void and unenforceable by administrative fiat. The Board cannot waive requirements. The Board is obligated to adhere to the statute and review minimum educational qualifications so long as the statute is deemed the law of the State. Any determination of whether or not a statute is constitutional is for the courts, not the Board. Florida Dairy Farmers Federation v. Borden Company, 155 So.2d 699,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Section 455.10 provided: No person shall be disqualified from practicing an occupation or profession regulated by the State solely because he is not a United States citizen.

702 (Fla. lst DCA 1963).

In Florida Dairy Farmers Federation v. Borden Company, 155 So.2d 699 (Fla. lst DCA 1973), an agricultural marketing cooperative association brought an action to enjoin two dairy product distributors from marketing certain dairy products in violation of a statute making it unlawful for distributors to market recombined or reconstructed dairy products without labeling the products as such. The administrative agency charged with the responsibility of enforcing the statute determined that the process of combining water with powdered milk or powdered skimmed milk and other substances was not in violation of the statutory prohibition against recombining or reconstructing milk. In refusing to defer to the agency's action, the court stated the general rule as follows:

The general rule is that an administrative construction of a statute by the agency charged with the enforcement of the act and authorized to make reasonable rules and regulations, while not binding upon the courts, is accorded great persuasive force and efficacy, especially when established by long usage, provided the same is not repugnant to the clear intent of the act or in conflict with the constitution. (emphasis supplied)

See also, 1 Fla. Jur. 2d Section 38 (Administrative agencies have only such powers as are conferred on them by statutes and action taken by them pursuant to statutes must accord with the provision thereof) (The intent of a statute is the gist of the enactment, and a material disregard of the statutory intent by an agency is a violation of the enactment).

In Florida Dairy Farmers, the agency disregarded the clear language of the statute which positively stated that ". . .it is

unlawful to sell recombined and reconstructed milk in this state - recombined milk is defined as combining milk products with other milk products. [i.e. powdered milk] or any other substance [i.e. water]." 155 So.2d at 702.

In refusing to defer to the agency the court stated:

The conclusion is inescapable that the distributors are violating the provision of the statute making it unlawful to sell "recombined and reconstructed" milk and until same is amended, repealed or held unconstitutional, such violation should and must be enjoined.

Iđ.

In the present case, the statutory language is just as clear, requiring that Petitioners must submit proof to the Board that they have met the minimum educational requirements set forth in Section 490.005(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1989). By specifically ignoring minimum educational requirements, and by allowing Petitioners to be licensed as psychologists without regard to their educational qualifications, the Board breached its duty to administrate the The settlement agreement is inconsistent with the clear intention of the legislature that applicants for licensure meet specific minimum educational requirements. The clear expression by the legislature as set forth in Section 490.002 Florida Statutes, requires that the Board follow the law, and not act contrary to the legislature's mandate. The settlement agreement shows that the Board acted contrary to the directions of the legislature by allowing Petitioners to be licensed without regard to their educational qualifications.

A settlement agreement is a contract, and as such its

construction and enforcement are governed by principles of general contract law. See, Don L. Tullis & Associates v. Benge, 473 So.2d 1384 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). Any contract that in full operation will be injurious to the public welfare is void as against public policy. Rush v. City of St. Petersburg, 205 So.2d 11, 13 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1967). In addition to Rush, a case illustrative of this point is Local No. 234, ETC v. Henley & Beckwith, Inc., 66 So.2d 818 (Fla. 1953). In that case, a contract between an employer and union providing for closed shop practices was declared null and void by this Court because it was contrary to the law, and thus violative of public policy. In declaring the contract void, this Court stated:

An agreement that is violative of a provision of a valid statute, or any agreement which cannot be performed without violating such a constitutional or statutory provision, is illegal and void. . . For courts have no right to ignore or set aside a public policy established by the legislature or the people. Indeed, there rests upon the courts the affirmative duty of refusing to sustain that which by the valid statutes of the jurisdiction, or by the constitution, has been declared repugnant to public policy.

Local No. 234, 66 So.2d at 821; see also, Spiro v. Highlands General Hospital, 489 So.2d 802 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986) (A contract between a dentist and hospital for performance of nondental anesthesia services by dentist was declared illegal and unenforceable because the dentist was not qualified to practice nondental anesthesia).

In another case, State v. Lechner, 197 So.2d 512 (Fla. 1967), the holder of a permit to operate dog racing brought an action against the State Racing Commission seeking a Writ of Mandamus.

The petition commanded that the Commission revoke and rescind its action taken in issuing a permit contrary to law. 197 So.2d at 513. The statute in Lechner required the Commission to grant no more than one hundred and five days of operation to any one permittee. In the case, the Commission issued a second permit that resulted in a single permittee having hours of operation in excess of the statutory mandate. Id. This Court recognized that the statute did not expressly prohibit the issuance of more than one permit for use at the same fronton, but granted the Writ of Mandamus because "the whole statutory design would be nullified if what was attempted here were to be sanctioned." Lechner, 197 So.2d at 514.

Here, as in *Lechner*, the whole statutory design of Chapter 490 would be nullified if Petitioners are determined by this Court to be eligible to hold themselves out as licensed psychologists without having first met the minimum educational requirements established by the legislature, and without regard to their educational qualifications.

A requirement that applicants for licensure meet certain minimum educational standards established by the legislature before they may demonstrate their competency to use a title in a given profession was upheld recently by the First District Court of Appeal as a legitimate exercise of this state's police power. See, Clark v. Department of Professional Regulation, 584 So.2d 59 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). In 1980, this Court held certification requirements for those who wish to practice as certified public accountants in

Florida was a legitimate exercise of the police power. The Court stated that it is entirely within the legislature's prerogative to require a year's employment with a Florida or out-of-state practitioner as one of the conditions precedent to certification. Junco v. State Bd. of Accountancy, 390 So. 2d 329 (Fla. 1980). More recently, in Abramson v. Gonzalez, 949 F.2d 1567 (11th Cir. 1992), the federal case wherein the instant settlement agreement was conceived, the Eleventh Circuit recognized and reaffirmed the principle that Petitioners must meet the minimum educational requirements in Section 490.005(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1989) before they may lawfully hold themselves out as "licensed professionals." 949 F.2d at 1567

By allowing Petitioners to be licensed as psychologists without regard to their educational qualifications, the Board abused its power, and disregarded its legal responsibility to enforce the law, to protect the public health, safety and welfare, and to ensure that only qualified persons hold themselves out as licensed psychologists. The lower court and district court properly recognized that the Board does not have the legal authority to ignore minimum educational requirements established by the legislature and to allow Petitioners to hold themselves out as licensed psychologists without regard to their educational qualifications.

# II. EQUITY DOES NOT COMPEL ENFORCEMENT OF THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT BECAUSE THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT IS ILLEGAL.

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